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In an action arising following plaintiff’s shoulder surgery and thediagnosis of glenohumeral chondrolysis, the destruction of cartilage in theshoulder joint, the trial court erred in dismissing plaintiff’s productliability action against the manufacturers of the pain pump used toadminister the anesthetic Marcaine during the surgery as barred by thetwo-year statute of limitations, even though that action was filed six yearsafter her medical malpractice action was filed against the surgeon, sincethe statute of limitations does not begin to run with regard to a secondsource of an injury until it becomes discoverable through diligent inquiry,and in plaintiff’s case, she knew her injury was caused by one source, butremained unaware of another source that could not be discovered earlierthrough the exercise of diligent inquiry.
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Judgment Reversed and remanded.
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Panel JUSTICE J. GORDON delivered the judgment of the court, with opinion.Presiding Justice Epstein and Justice McBride concurred in the judgmentand opinion.
OPINION

¶ 1 Plaintiff appeals the dismissal of her products liability suit against I-Flow Corporation,Stryker Corporation, and Stryker Sales Corporation (collectively, the product liabilitydefendants) as time-barred under the two-year limitations period for product liability actionsas set forth in section 13-213(d) of the Code of Civil Procedure (735 ILCS 5/13-213(d) (West2008)).¶ 2 Dr. Steven Levin performed surgery on plaintiff’s left shoulder on October 24, 2001.Subsequently, plaintiff experienced severe pain in her shoulder and was diagnosed withglenohumeral chondrolysis, the destruction of cartilage in the shoulder joint. On October 22,2003, plaintiff filed an initial medical malpractice suit against Dr. Levin. (Dr. Levin is nota party to the instant appeal.) During the course of discovery in that suit, plaintiff’s expertDr. Anthony Romeo was deposed in two phases, namely, on August 9, 2006, and on October24, 2007. On August 9, 2006, he testified that the administration of a particular anestheticagent via a continuous infusion device, also known as a “pain pump,” had been shown to be“highly associated” with loss of articular cartilage. On October 24, 2007, at the second phaseof his deposition, Dr. Romeo testified that recently published medical literature suggesteda link between pain pumps and plaintiff’s condition.¶ 3 Based upon this second deposition, on November 12, 2008, plaintiff voluntarilynonsuited her medical malpractice action. She then refiled her malpractice claims against Dr.Levin on February 11, 2009, adding two product liability counts sounding in strict liability--22--



and negligence against the pain pump manufacturers, which are the product liabilitydefendants in the instant appeal.¶ 4 The product liability defendants filed motions to dismiss plaintiff’s product liabilityclaims as untimely. The trial court granted their motions to dismiss. Plaintiff now appeals.For the reasons that follow, we reverse and remand.
¶ 5 I. BACKGROUND¶ 6 The facts as alleged by plaintiff are as follows. Plaintiff injured her left shoulder whileexercising on August 19, 2001. On October 24, 2001, Dr. Levin performed orthopedicsurgery on her shoulder at Alexian Brothers Medical Center. As a part of the surgery, Dr.Levin installed a pain pump in plaintiff’s left shoulder in order to release Marcaine, a localanesthetic, into the surrounding area during the postoperative recovery period. Followingsurgery, plaintiff allegedly experienced severe pain in her left shoulder and a significantreduction in its range of motion. As noted, she was eventually diagnosed with glenohumeralchondrolysis, the destruction of “articular cartilage,” i.e., joint cartilage, in the shoulder.¶ 7 On October 22, 2003, plaintiff filed her initial medical malpractice suit against Dr. Levinand Alexian Brothers Medical Center, alleging direct negligence on the part of Dr. Levin anddirect negligence and respondeat superior liability on the part of Alexian Brothers MedicalCenter. Plaintiff did not assert any claims against the product liability defendants in thataction.¶ 8 On August 9, 2006, during the course of discovery, the parties deposed plaintiff’sphysician, Dr. Romeo. In response to questioning by counsel for Dr. Levin, Dr. Romeo listedthree possible ways in which performance of the subject surgery could cause cartilage loss,including the following: “A third possibility which has become more apparent recently is the use of aninterarticular anesthetic agent, particularly a medicine called Marcaine, and so the useof a postoperative interarticular pain pump, which I’m not aware of whether that wasdone or not, has been shown over the last year-and-a-half to two years to be highlyassociated with a condition where articular cartilage is aggressively lost in theshoulder after arthroscopic stabilization.”Later in that same deposition, counsel for plaintiff asked Dr. Romeo about the use ofMarcaine pain pumps as a potential cause of plaintiff’s condition, and Dr. Romeo answeredthat “in the last year and a half there’s been a growing body of evidence that this can causecartilage death or necrosis and lead to the loss of cartilage in a shoulder.”¶ 9 On October 24, 2007, at the second phase of his deposition, Dr. Romeo testified to a linkbetween the use of pain pumps and glenohumeral chondrolysis:“Q. In 2007, is it recognized in the literature that the use of Marcaine pain pumpscan, in fact, be a cause for loss or destruction of articular cartilage at theglenohumeral joint space?A. Yes.”Dr. Romeo further testified that the connection between pain pumps and glenohumeral
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chondrolysis “was not known” in 2001 when Dr. Levin performed surgery on plaintiff andwas not discovered until “a few years later.”¶ 10 Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed her initial medical malpractice action on November 12,2008. Subsequently, on February 11, 2009, plaintiff filed the instant suit, once more seekingdamages against Dr. Levin on a medical malpractice theory and adding claims against theproduct liability defendants on theories of strict liability and negligence.¶ 11 The product liability defendants filed motions to dismiss plaintiff’s complaint asuntimely pursuant to the two-year limitations period for product liability actions as stated insection 13-213(d) of the Code of Civil Procedure (735 ILCS 5/13-213(d) (West 2008)). Theproduct liability defendants argued that, at the latest, the statutory limitations period forplaintiff’s product liability claims began to run on the day that plaintiff filed her initial actionin 2003, because upon the filing of such a claim Illinois law deemed her to be aware of aninjury wrongfully caused. In response, plaintiff argued that the limitations period would notbegin until October 24, 2007, the date of Dr. Romeo’s second deposition session, at whichshe first became aware of the potential link between the use of a pain pump during hersurgery and her injury.¶ 12 In opposition to the product liability defendants’ motion to dismiss, plaintiff filed anaffidavit by Dr. Romeo in which he stated:“It is my understanding, and opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, thatany information concerning potential chondrolysis caused by the wrongful use ofpain pumps did not occur by publication for which a patient or other lay person mightrealize that chondrolysis might be wrongfully caused by pain pumps or their designor lack of warnings or instructions until the summer of 2007.”Dr. Romeo acknowledged that, in his deposition on August 9, 2006, he had mentioned thatplaintiff’s injuries could have been caused by the use of a pain pump to deliver an anesthetic.However, he stated:“[M]y testimony only reflected the length of time and the amount of medication thatwas delivered by the pain pump, and was not intended nor did it reflect anyinformation that any pain pump may be potentially unsafe or had lack of warnings.*** At my deposition on August 9, 2006, I had no information, and when asked,imparted no information to Mr. Goodman [plaintiff’s attorney], that the pain pumpswere unsafe or unreasonably dangerous, or negligently designed or manufactured.”¶ 13 On January 14, 2010, the trial court granted the product liability defendants’ motion todismiss, explaining:“I ruled on the pure legal issue as to whether or not once a plaintiff is put on inquirynotice that they were injured and that the injury was wrongfully caused, and I acceptthe premise that by filing a malpractice suit against the medical defendants, there’sno doubt that there was that notice generated early and that some of the dates are alittle cloudy in my head, but I think it was 2001 or 2002 that that trigger date as to themed mal defendants served as a trigger date for all purposes, defendants, all causesof action. So, that the statute of limitations as to the product liability case would starton that same date.”
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The trial court further acknowledged that, under this construction of the discovery rule, “itcould well be argued that prior to your ability to file in good faith a products liability case,that statute has already left.”¶ 14 The next day, on January 15, 2010, upon plaintiff’s motion, the trial court grantedplaintiff leave to file an amended complaint and struck the previously entered dismissals. Inher amended complaint, plaintiff added the factual allegation that, prior to the summer of2007, she could not have discovered that the pain pump used by Dr. Levin might have beenthe cause of her injury, because “[p]rior to the summer of 2007, information concerningpotential chondrolysis caused by pain pumps did not exist. There was no informationavailable that chondrolysis may be wrongfully caused by pain pumps or their design or lackof safe, suitable or proper warnings until the summer of 2007.”¶ 15 Following a hearing that day, the court again granted the product liability defendants’motions to dismiss the claims against them. The trial court also issued a finding under IllinoisSupreme Court Rule 304(a) (eff. Feb. 26, 2010) that there was no just reason to delayenforcement or appeal of its order. This appeal followed.
¶ 16 II. ANALYSIS¶ 17 On appeal, plaintiff contends that the statute of limitations for her product liability claimshould only begin to run when plaintiff knew or should have known that her injury waswrongfully caused by a product, rather than when she knew or should have known that herinjury was wrongfully caused without regard to any specific source. She additionallycontends that a contrary interpretation of the discovery rule would deny her rights under thedue process and equal protection provisions of the United States and Illinois Constitutions.The product liability defendants contest each of these contentions. They additionally arguethat, in any event, plaintiff knew or should have known that her injury was wrongfully causedby a product no later than August 9, 2006, the date of Dr. Romeo’s first deposition, duringwhich he mentioned the use of a pain pump in connection with her injury. Thus, they claimthat even under the interpretation of the discovery rule advocated by plaintiff, her February11, 2009, suit was still untimely.
¶ 18 A¶ 19 The central issue in this case is how the discovery rule is applied when a plaintiff isaware that her injury might have been wrongfully caused by one source but is unaware thather injury might have been caused by another source and, in fact, could not be aware of thatsource because the causal link was as yet unknown to science. Defendants contend that assoon as an injured plaintiff becomes aware that her injury might have been wrongfully causedby any source, the plaintiff is under a duty to inquire as to all potential sources, and thestatute of limitations therefore begins to run as to all causes of action, even causes of actionthat would not be discoverable at that time. Under such a rule, the statute of limitations onall claims resulting from plaintiff’s injury would have started to run no later than October 22,2003, the date upon which she filed her initial malpractice lawsuit against Dr. Levin, sinceshe was certainly alerted to the possibility of some form of wrongful conduct at that point,
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even if she did not yet have any means of discovering that she had been injured bydefendants’ product. Plaintiff, on the other hand, contends that where a particular cause ofaction would not be discoverable through reasonable diligence, the statute of limitations asto that particular cause of action should be tolled until that cause of action becomesdiscoverable, even if the statute of limitations has already started to run as to other causes ofaction arising out of the same injury. Thus, the statute would not begin to run on plaintiff’sproducts liability claim until plaintiff knew or had reason to know that her injury could havebeen wrongfully caused by a product, which she asserts did not occur until Dr. Romeo’stestimony regarding pain pumps at the second session of his deposition on October 24, 2007.¶ 20 The statute of limitations for products liability actions, which governs the instant appeal,is set forth in section 13-213 of the Code of Civil Procedure and provides, in relevant part: “(d) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (b) and paragraph (2) ofsubsection (c) if the injury complained of occurs within any of the periods providedby subsection (b) and paragraph (2) of subsection (c), the plaintiff may bring anaction within 2 years after the date on which the claimant knew, or through the useof reasonable diligence should have known, of the existence of the personal injury,death or property damage, but in no event shall such action be brought more than 8years after the date on which such personal injury, death or property damageoccurred.” (Emphasis added.) 735 ILCS 5/13-213(d) (West 2008).¶ 21 In applying the two-year statute of limitations set forth in section 13-213(d) and similarstatutes of limitations, Illinois courts have adopted a “discovery rule,” which serves to“postpone the commencement of the relevant statute of limitations until the injured plaintiffknows or reasonably should have known that he has been injured and that his injury waswrongfully caused.” Golla v. General Motors Corp., 167 Ill. 2d 353, 361, 657 N.E.2d 894,898 (1995) (citing Rozny v. Marnul, 43 Ill. 2d 54, 72-73, 250 N.E.2d 656, 665-66 (1969));see also Nolan v. Johns-Manville Asbestos, 85 Ill. 2d 161, 169, 421 N.E.2d 864, 868 (1981)(“the cause of action accrues when the plaintiff knows or reasonably should know of aninjury and also knows or reasonably should know that the injury was caused by the wrongfulacts of another”). Our supreme court in Knox College v. Celotex Corp., 88 Ill. 2d 407, 430N.E.2d 976 (1982), explained the discovery rule in Illinois as follows:“This court has recently considered the discovery rule in depth in two cases, and hasadopted a construction of the rule which can be termed neither narrow nor expansive.That is, we have held that the event which triggers the running of the statutory periodis not the first knowledge the injured person has of his injury, and, at the otherextreme, we have also held that it is not the acquisition of knowledge that one has acause of action against another for an injury he has suffered. Rather, *** the statutestarts to run when a person knows or reasonably should know of his injury and alsoknows or reasonably should know that it was wrongfully caused.” Knox, 88 Ill. 2dat 414-15, 430 N.E.2d at 980.Our supreme court has explained that this rule is intended to encourage diligent investigationon the part of potential plaintiffs without foreclosing claims of which plaintiffs could nothave been aware, stating, “In that way, an injured person is not held to a standard of knowing
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the inherently unknowable [citation], yet once it reasonably appears that an injury waswrongfully caused, the party may not slumber on his rights.” Nolan, 85 Ill. 2d at 171, 421N.E.2d at 868 (citing Urie v. Thompson, 337 U.S. 163, 169 (1949)); see Rozny, 43 Ill. 2d at70, 250 N.E.2d at 665 (discovery rule has been designed to mitigate “the hardship to theplaintiff who neither knows nor should have known of the existence of his right to sue”);Lipsey v. Michael Reese Hospital, 46 Ill. 2d 32, 41, 262 N.E.2d 450, 455 (1970) (“It ismanifestly unrealistic and unfair to bar a negligently injured party’s cause of action beforehe had had an opportunity to discover that it exists.”).¶ 22 The notion of “wrongful cause,” as it has been developed by courts in Illinois, has twoelements: that of cause and that of wrongfulness. With regard to the first element, plaintiffmust have sufficient information to conclude that her injury was caused by the acts ofanother. Nolan, 85 Ill. 2d at 169, 421 N.E.2d at 868; Roper v. Markle, 59 Ill. App. 3d 706,710, 375 N.E.2d 934, 938 (1978) (it is a prerequisite for the triggering of the statute oflimitations that the injured plaintiff has actual or constructive knowledge of “the possibilitythat someone is at fault for [the injury’s] existence”). If the plaintiff is not aware thatsomeone may be “at fault” for her injury, then the statute of limitations will not begin to run.Roper, 59 Ill. App. 3d at 711, 375 N.E.2d at 938 (“That in some types of cases an awarenessof a physical problem also carries with it awareness of its wrongful causation, does notdictate a triggering of the limitations period in all malpractice cases when one becomes awaresolely of a physical problem.”). Thus, for instance, in Nolan, where an asbestos worker whocontracted asbestosis brought suit against the manufacturers, sellers, and distributors ofasbestos products, the court held that the statute of limitations did not begin to run until hehad sufficient information to conclude that his condition was caused by exposure to asbestosmaterials at work, even though he had allegedly been aware of his lung problems for manyyears prior to his receipt of such information. Nolan, 85 Ill. 2d at 171-72, 421 N.E.2d at 869.Similarly, in Roper, 59 Ill. App. 3d at 712, 375 N.E.2d at 939, cited with approval in Nolan,85 Ill. 2d at 170, 421 N.E.2d at 868, where a negligently performed hysterectomy causedplaintiff’s kidney to become infected, the statute of limitations did not begin to run untilplaintiff had reason to know of the possibility that her kidney infection was the result of theactions of the doctor who performed the hysterectomy, rather than by some nonnegligentorganic cause.¶ 23 As for the element of wrongfulness, an injured plaintiff should reasonably know that herinjury is wrongfully caused, and the statute of limitations begins to run, as soon as she hassufficient information about her injury and its cause to spark inquiry in a reasonable personas to whether the conduct of the party who caused her injury might be legally actionable.Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 416, 430 N.E.2d at 980; cf. Nair v. Bloom, 383 Ill. App. 3d 867, 871, 890N.E.2d 1113, 1116-17 (2008) (statute of limitations was not triggered where, shortlyfollowing abdominal surgery, plaintiff experienced pain and weakness in her legs but wasreassured by her physicians that this was a common side effect of abdominal surgeries). Atthis point, the burden is upon the injured plaintiff to investigate whether she has a viablecause of action. Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 416, 430 N.E.2d at 980 (stressing “the rule and obligationof the person to make diligent inquiry” once she knows or reasonably should know of herinjury and that it is wrongfully caused).
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¶ 24 Knowledge of “wrongful cause” does not require knowledge on the part of plaintiff thatthe defendant’s conduct fits the technical legal definition of negligence or that all the legalelements of a particular cause of action are otherwise satisfied. Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 415-16,430 N.E.2d at 980. However, it still requires that plaintiff is or should be aware of somepossible fault on the part of the defendant, as has been elucidated by the cases followingKnox. Thus, courts have held that reasonable knowledge of wrongful cause requires morethan a mere suspicion that wrongdoing might have occurred, if that suspicion is not yetsupported by facts known to plaintiff:“[S]uspecting wrongdoing clearly is not the same as knowing that a wrong wasprobably committed. *** The trier of fact must examine the factual circumstancesupon which the suspicions are predicated and determine if they would lead areasonable person to believe that wrongful conduct was involved. The fact that aparty suspects wrongful conduct, without examining the reasons underlying thosesuspicions, is not enough to constitute constructive knowledge that an injury waswrongfully caused.” Young v. McKiegue, 303 Ill. App. 3d 380, 390, 708 N.E.2d 493,501 (1999).See LaManna v. G.D. Searle & Co., 204 Ill. App. 3d 211, 218 (1990) (“Plainly, suspicionis not the same as reasonably knowing.”). For instance, in Young, shortly after decedent’sdeath, the plaintiff widow questioned doctors about the care received by decedent. Young,303 Ill. App. 3d at 383, 708 N.E.2d at 497. The Young court held that her mere suspicion thatsomething might have gone wrong was insufficient to determine as a matter of law that sheknew or should reasonably have known that decedent’s death was wrongfully caused at thattime. Young, 303 Ill. App. 3d at 390, 708 N.E.2d at 501.¶ 25 Our supreme court has not directly addressed the operation of the statute of limitationswhere a plaintiff is aware that her injury might have been wrongfully caused by one source,but could not as yet have been aware of another potential source at that time. However, indefining the contours of the discovery rule in Nolan and Knox, our supreme court looks forguidance to the United States Supreme Court decision of United States v. Kubrick, 444 U.S.111 (1979), in which the Court implied that the beginning of the period of limitations woulddepend upon the discoverability of the claim at issue.¶ 26 The Kubrick plaintiff brought suit in 1972 to recover for a hearing loss allegedly causedby medical malpractice in a Veterans Administration hospital. Kubrick, 444 U.S. at 114. Hewas aware in 1969 that the probable cause of his hearing loss was an antibiotic he receivedat the hospital, but not until 1971 was he informed by a physician that the antibiotic shouldnot have been administered. Kubrick, 444 U.S. at 114. The Kubrick Court held that thestatute of limitations began to run in 1969, that is, at the time plaintiff was aware of his injuryand the cause of his injury, even though he had not yet been told that the treatment at issuewas a violation of the standard of care. Kubrick, 444 U.S. at 122. (As noted, this is the sameformulation of the discovery rule adopted by our supreme court, namely, that the period oflimitations begins when plaintiff knows or reasonably should know of her injury and itscause. See Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 416, 430 N.E.2d at 980; Nolan, 85 Ill. 2d at 169, 421 N.E.2dat 868.) The Kubrick Court explained:
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“We are unconvinced that for statute of limitations purposes a plaintiff’s ignoranceof his legal rights and his ignorance of the fact of his injury or its cause shouldreceive identical treatment. That he has been injured in fact may be unknown orunknowable until the injury manifests itself; and the facts about causation may be inthe control of the putative defendant, unavailable to the plaintiff or at least verydifficult to obtain. The prospect is not so bleak for a plaintiff in possession of thecritical facts that he has been hurt and who has inflicted the injury. He is no longerat the mercy of the latter. There are others who can tell him if he has been wronged,and he need only ask. If he does ask and if the defendant has failed to live up tominimum standards of medical proficiency, the odds are that a competent doctor willso inform the plaintiff.” (Emphasis added.) Kubrick, 444 U.S. at 122.With regard to the facts of the case at hand, the Kubrick Court stated that, given the trialcourt’s factual finding that the treatment at issue violated the standard of care, which was notcontested on appeal, plaintiff “need only have made inquiry among doctors with averagetraining and experience in such matters to have discovered that he probably had a good causeof action.” Kubrick, 444 U.S. at 122-23. The Court further stated, “If there exists in thecommunity a generally applicable standard of care with respect to the treatment of hisailment, we see no reason to suppose that competent advice would not be available to theplaintiff as to whether his treatment conformed to that standard.” Kubrick, 444 U.S. at 123-24.¶ 27 Thus, the fact that plaintiff could have discovered his cause of action within the statutoryperiod through reasonable diligence forms a central part of the Kubrick Court’s analysis. Asnoted, the need for plaintiffs to investigate their potential claims with reasonable diligencehas likewise shaped the development of the discovery rule in Illinois. See Knox, 88 Ill. 2dat 416, 430 N.E.2d at 980 (stating “the rule and obligation of the [injured] person to makediligent inquiry” (citing Witherell v. Weimer, 85 Ill. 2d 146, 156, 421 N.E.2d 869, 874 (1981)(once an injured person knows or should reasonably know that he is injured and that hisinjury was wrongfully caused, “the burden is upon the injured person to inquire further”)));see Nolan, 85 Ill. 2d at 171, 421 N.E.2d at 868 (“once it reasonably appears that an injurywas wrongfully caused, the party may not slumber on his rights”). Although the KubrickCourt had no occasion to consider a scenario in which the cause of action would not bediscoverable through reasonable diligence, it seems likely that a different result would obtain,since the rule articulated by the Court is founded upon the presumption of discoverability.¶ 28 The present case, as noted, requires us to rule upon the operation of the discovery rulein a situation where a plaintiff is aware of one potential wrongful cause of her injury, but shedoes not yet know, nor could she reasonably discover, a second potential wrongful cause,because the state of our scientific knowledge is as yet inadequate to unearth that secondcause. Permitting knowledge of the one to trigger the discovery rule as to the other wouldseem to defeat the policy and purpose behind the discovery rule, which is to accommodatethe need of the victim, upon reasonable inquiry, to discover her cause of action against adefendant who has wronged her. Therefore, where plaintiff has discovered one cause of herinjury, but has not and, in fact, could not have discovered a second cause, tolling the statuteof limitations with regard to that second claim until such time as “[t]here are others who can
--99--



tell him if he has been wronged, and he need only ask” (Kubrick, 444 U.S. at 122) wouldseem to be a logical extension of the Kubrick decision, as well as one that flows from oursupreme court’s concern that plaintiffs conduct diligent inquiry into potential causes ofaction without slumbering on their rights.¶ 29 In the instant case, accepting the allegations in plaintiff’s amended complaint as true,plaintiff did not slumber on her rights. She brought a timely medical malpractice suit withintwo years of her injury, and her delay in bringing her products liability suit was not due toany lack of diligence on her part but, rather, to the fact that the scientific community was notaware of the dangers associated with pain pumps until the summer of 2007. Indeed, whilethere may be a question of fact as to when the link between pain pumps and chondrolysisbecame known to science, there is no question that plaintiff could not have known of anypotential products liability cause of action against the pain pump manufacturers while thecausal link between her injury and the pain pump used upon her was not scientificallydiscoverable. As has been discussed, our supreme court has expressed concern that plaintiffsshould not be “held to a standard of knowing the inherently unknowable.” Nolan, 85 Ill. 2dat 171, 421 N.E.2d at 868 (citing Urie, 337 U.S. at 169); see Lipsey, 46 Ill. 2d at 41, 262N.E.2d at 455 (“It is manifestly unrealistic and unfair to bar a negligently injured party’scause of action before he has had an opportunity to discover that it exists.”). If we were toadopt defendants’ proposed construction of the discovery rule, holding that the statute oflimitations on plaintiff’s products liability claim began to run and, in fact, expired at a timewhen it was yet unknowable, we would be doing precisely that which the Nolan court soughtto avoid.¶ 30 Plaintiff additionally contends, and we agree, that the rule she urges comports with thestatutory scheme enacted by the legislature with regard to products liability claims, asreflected in section 13-213 of the Code of Civil Procedure: “(b) Subject to the provisions of subsections (c) and (d) no product liability actionbased on any theory or doctrine shall be commenced except within the applicablelimitations period and, in any event, within 12 years from the date of first sale, leaseor delivery of possession by a seller or 10 years from the date of first sale, lease ordelivery of possession to its initial user, consumer, or other non-seller, whicheverperiod expires earlier, of any product unit that is claimed to have injured or damagedthe plaintiff ***.***(d) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (b) and paragraph (2) ofsubsection (c) if the injury complained of occurs within any of the periods providedby subsection (b) and paragraph (2) of subsection (c), the plaintiff may bring anaction within 2 years after the date on which the claimant knew, or through the useof reasonable diligence should have known, of the existence of the personal injury,death or property damage, but in no event shall such action be brought more than 8years after the date on which such personal injury, death or property damageoccurred.” 735 ILCS 5/13-213 (West 2008).Thus, the products liability statute makes a clear distinction between the statute of repose,
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which is either 10 years or 12 years depending on the product’s sales history, and the statuteof limitations for products liability actions, which is 2 years from the date that the plaintiffdiscovers her injury. 735 ILCS 5/13-213 (West 2008). The statute further limits liability bystating that product liability actions based on injury, regardless of the time of discovery, mustbe brought within eight years of the injury, thus creating a rigid span of time after whichrecovery is impossible regardless of whether plaintiff’s failure to discover her claim was dueto any lack of diligence on her part. 735 ILCS 5/13-213(d) (West 2008). The interpretationof the discovery rule urged by defendants in this appeal would disrupt this statutory schemein cases such as the present one by, in effect, transforming the two-year statute of limitationsinto a new statute of repose, since it would serve as an absolute bar on liability on claims thatare not discoverable within that two-year period, as long as plaintiff has been alerted to thepotential presence of at least one other claim.¶ 31 Thus, in keeping with the statute itself, the thrust of Kubrick as cited with approval byour supreme court in Nolan and Knox, and our supreme court’s concern that plaintiffs shouldinvestigate their claims with diligence without being “held to a standard of knowing theinherently unknowable” (Nolan, 85 Ill. 2d at 171, 421 N.E.2d at 868 (citing Urie, 337 U.S.at 169)), we hold that, where a plaintiff knows or should reasonably know that her injury wascaused by one source, but remains unaware of another source that could not be discoveredthrough the exercise of diligent inquiry, the statute of limitations does not begin to run withregard to that second source until such time as that second source would becomediscoverable through diligent inquiry.¶ 32 Defendants argue that our holding is contrary to the language of Knox, citing Knox forthe proposition that “the statute [of limitations] is not triggered with ‘the acquisition ofknowledge that one has a cause of action against another for an injury he has suffered.’ ”(Emphasis in original.) See Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 415, 430 N.E.2d at 980. However, in context,the Knox court was not purporting to state that a cause of action can accrue before a plaintiffcould possibly have known of its existence through the exercise of reasonable diligence. Asnoted, the Knox court did not directly address such a situation. Rather, the Knox court waselaborating on the threshold of knowledge required for a plaintiff to be aware that her injuryis “wrongfully caused”: plaintiff does not need to be aware that she has a viable cause ofaction, for such awareness “ ‘assumes a conclusion which must properly await legaldetermination.’ ” Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 415, 430 N.E.2d at 980. Thus, as noted, a plaintiff’s dutyof inquiry begins well before she can be certain that defendant’s conduct satisfies allelements of a particular cause of action, as long as she is aware that her injury might havebeen “wrongfully caused” in a general, non-technical sense. Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 416, 430N.E.2d at 980. Yet this statement by the Knox court does not foreclose recovery in a casesuch as the present one, where a reasonably diligent person in plaintiff’s position wouldallegedly have had no reason to believe that her injury might have been wrongfully causedby a product until years later.¶ 33 Defendants nevertheless cite Hoffman v. Orthopedic Systems, Inc., 327 Ill. App. 3d 1004,765 N.E.2d 116 (2002), McCormick v. Uppuluri, 250 Ill. App. 3d 386, 621 N.E.2d 57 (1993),and Wells v. Travis, 284 Ill. App. 3d 282, 672 N.E.2d 789 (1996), for the proposition that,as soon as an injured plaintiff knows or should know that her injury might have been
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wrongfully caused by any source, the statute of limitations begins to run as to all potentialdefendants and causes of action. However, these cases are at worst distinguishable and, infact, can be construed as supportive of our reading of the discovery rule, since in all three ofthese cases, the court attributes significance to the fact that the plaintiff’s untimely filing wasdue to the fact that he or she failed to conduct sufficient investigation within the statutorytimeframe. Since the courts in these cases consistently rely upon the plaintiffs’ lack ofdiligence in declaring their claims to be time-barred, it is implied that a different result mighthave been reached if the plaintiffs had acted with full diligence and still been unable todiscover the claims at issue.¶ 34 Hoffman, like the present case, involves a plaintiff injured in surgery who was aware ofa potential malpractice claim but did not discover that she might have a products liabilityclaim until years later. Four to six months after being severely injured as a result of backsurgery, the Hoffman plaintiff asked her attorney to investigate any potential medicalmalpractice claim arising out of that surgery, though it would appear that she did not conductany investigation into potential products liability claims or file any suit at that time. Hoffman,327 Ill. App. 3d at 1007, 1011, 765 N.E.2d at 119, 122. Nearly three years after her injury,when the plaintiff returned to the same hospital for an unrelated surgery, hospital staffvolunteered the information that her injuries had been caused by the surgical platform onwhich she was placed during the surgery. Hoffman, 327 Ill. App. 3d at 1007, 765 N.E.2d at120. She then brought a product liability suit against the manufacturer of the surgicalplatform. Hoffman, 327 Ill. App. 3d at 1008, 765 N.E.2d at 120.¶ 35 Under these facts, the Hoffman court found that plaintiff’s claim was time-barred by thetwo-year statute of limitations for product liability actions, holding that it began to run nolater than four to six months after her injury, when she requested that her attorney investigatea possible malpractice claim. Hoffman, 327 Ill. App. 3d at 1011, 765 N.E.2d at 122. It statedthat the statute of limitations begins to run “when plaintiff becomes aware that the cause ofthe problem stems from another’s negligence and not from natural causes,” which, if readout of context, would seem to support defendants’ position in the instant action. Hoffman,327 Ill. App. 3d at 1010, 765 N.E.2d at 122. However, the Hoffman court did not rely uponthis statement as a blanket principle that would apply regardless of a plaintiff’s diligence but,rather, drew additional support from the fact that the plaintiff might have been able todiscover her products liability claim within the limitations period if she had undertakendiligent inquiry. In this vein, the court stated:“Plaintiff’s failure to pursue a more thorough inquiry to find the cause of herinjuries does not excuse her from failing to comply with the statute of limitations.Plaintiff could have attempted to obtain the results of the hospital’s investigation ofthis incident, with appropriate further investigation by her attorneys, particularlysince Dr. Conrad voluntarily divulged its conclusions.*** It would be manifestly unjust to visit a stale claim upon a putative defendantby reason of inadequate investigative procedures, particularly where the Code andsupreme court rules provide substantial avenues of inquiry to a plaintiff who knewthat the potential for wrongdoing could have been the cause of her injuries.”Hoffman, 327 Ill. App. 3d at 1011, 765 N.E.2d at 122.--1122--



Thus, the Hoffman decision appears to rely, at least in part, on its determination thatplaintiff’s product liability claim would have been discoverable through diligentinvestigation, a reliance which comports with our supreme court’s concern that putativeplaintiffs investigate potential claims instead of slumbering on their rights. See Nolan, 85 Ill.2d at 171, 421 N.E.2d at 868.¶ 36 Similarly, in McCormick and Wells, the court also relies in part upon plaintiffs’ failureto investigate fully upon learning of their injuries in finding the claims at issue to be time-barred. Both of these cases are medical malpractice suits in which an injured plaintifforiginally sought recovery against a certain doctor or doctors but did not discover factsimplicating the defendant doctor until years later. In McCormick, the defendant physiciantreated plaintiff’s kidney obstruction in 1984, and plaintiff’s kidney subsequently becamenonfunctional. McCormick, 250 Ill. App. 3d at 387, 621 N.E.2d at 58. Plaintiff brought amedical malpractice suit against two other physicians and the hospital, but not the defendantphysician. McCormick, 250 Ill. App. 3d at 387, 621 N.E.2d at 58. More than two years later,plaintiff received a doctor’s opinion that his injury was caused by the negligence of thedefendant physician, and he brought a second medical malpractice suit against the defendant.McCormick, 250 Ill. App. 3d at 387, 621 N.E.2d at 58. The McCormick court found that thissecond suit was time-barred, holding that, as a matter of law, the statute of limitations beganto run no later than the date upon which plaintiff filed his first medical malpractice suit, sincehe must have had knowledge at that time that he was injured and that such injury might havebeen wrongfully caused. McCormick, 250 Ill. App. 3d at 391-92, 621 N.E.2d at 61.¶ 37 In reaching this conclusion, the McCormick court stated that a plaintiff’s cause of actiondoes not accrue when plaintiff becomes aware that his injury may have been caused by thewrongful actions of a particular defendant but, rather, as soon as he becomes aware that hisinjury may have been caused by wrongful conduct in general. McCormick, 250 Ill. App. 3dat 391, 621 N.E.2d at 61. However, the McCormick court also states: “Significantly, this isnot a case where defendant’s identity was concealed. His identity was disclosed in Ingalls’medical records which plaintiff possessed prior to filing the [initial] action. Any reasonablediscovery attempts should have included ascertaining defendant’s involvement in this case.”McCormick, 250 Ill. App. 3d at 392, 621 N.E.2d at 61. Thus, the McCormick court explicitlyrelied upon plaintiff’s lack of diligence in investigating potential claims arising from hisinjury. In doing so, it implies that a different result might be reached in a case such as thepresent one where plaintiff investigates diligently but is unable to discover a cause of herinjury within two years.¶ 38 Finally, in Wells, 284 Ill. App. 3d at 284, 672 N.E.2d at 791, following the death ofplaintiff’s decedent, the plaintiff brought a medical malpractice suit against a physician andthen amended her action to add a second physician. The second physician successfullymoved to dismiss the counts against him as time-barred, and the Wells court affirmed. Wells,284 Ill. App. 3d at 284, 672 N.E.2d at 791. In filing her initial suit, plaintiff had relied on areport by her section 2-622 expert, who in essence opined that the first physician hadcommitted malpractice, but the second physician had not. Wells, 284 Ill. App. 3d at 284, 672N.E.2d at 791. During the course of discovery in that action, experts of the first physicianopined that the second physician was the one at fault, prompting plaintiff to amend her action
--1133--



to add the second physician. Wells, 284 Ill. App. 3d at 285, 672 N.E.2d at 791. Under thesefacts, the Wells court, following the McCormick decision, held that as a matter of law, thelimitations period commenced as soon as plaintiff received the report from her expert whichimplicated the first physician and exonerated the second physician. Wells, 284 Ill. App. 3dat 292, 672 N.E.2d at 796. However, it is clear from the facts of the case that plaintiff wasaware that the second physician was involved in the treatment of plaintiff’s decedent, eventhough she originally did not believe him to have committed any negligence. Wells, 284 Ill.App. 3d at 284, 672 N.E.2d at 791. Moreover, the Wells court states, “[W]e will not createan exception to the statute of limitations because plaintiff elected to rely on the opinion ofher chosen expert rather than continuing her investigation,” implying that, if plaintiff hadcontinued her investigation, she might have been able to uncover evidence implicating thesecond physician in decedent’s death within the statutory period. Wells, 284 Ill. App. 3d at292, 672 N.E.2d at 796. Thus, as with Hoffman and McCormick, Wells is, at the very least,distinguishable from the present case, and it does not run contrary to our holding that, wherea plaintiff knows or should reasonably know one cause of her injury, but another causeremains both undiscovered and undiscoverable, the statute of limitations with regard to thatsecond cause is tolled until such time as that second cause would become discoverable.¶ 39 In this regard, we find the California case of Fox v. Ethicon Endo-Surgery, Inc., 110 P.3d914 (Cal. 2005), to be highly instructive, since, unlike Hoffman, McCormick, and Wells, itdirectly confronts the issue of when the statute of limitations begins for a plaintiff who isaware that her injury might have been “wrongfully caused” by medical malpractice but couldnot have discovered her potential product liability claim until years later. The CaliforniaSupreme Court sums up its holding in Fox as follows:“We conclude that, under the delayed discovery rule, a cause of action accruesand the statute of limitations begins to run when the plaintiff has reason to suspectan injury and some wrongful cause, unless the plaintiff pleads and proves that areasonable investigation at that time would not have revealed a factual basis for thatparticular cause of action. In that case, the statute of limitations for that cause ofaction will be tolled until such time as a reasonable investigation would haverevealed its factual basis.” Fox, 110 P.3d at 917.¶ 40 The facts of Fox are analogous to those in the instant case. The plaintiff in Fox wasinjured as a result of gastric bypass surgery and brought a medical malpractice suit againstthe doctor who performed the surgery on April 6, 2000. Fox, 110 P.3d at 917. In a depositiongiven on August 13, 2001, the doctor testified that plaintiff’s injuries might have been causedby a stapler used during her surgery. Fox, 110 P.3d at 918. Plaintiff subsequently amendedher complaint on November 28, 2001, to add a products liability claim against themanufacturer of the stapler. Fox, 110 P.3d at 918. She specifically alleged that reasonablediligence would not have caused her to suspect the stapler as a cause of her injuries at anytime before her doctor’s deposition on August 13, 2001. Fox, 110 P.3d at 918. Themanufacturer sought to dismiss the products liability claim under California’s one-yearstatute of limitations for products liability actions. Fox, 110 P.3d at 918.¶ 41 In assessing these facts, the California Supreme Court applied its discovery rule, which“postpones accrual of a cause of action until the plaintiff discovers, or has cause to discover,--1144--



the cause of action.” Fox, 110 P.3d at 920. As in Illinois, the period of limitations inCalifornia is not dependent upon a plaintiff’s knowledge that the specific elements of a causeof action have been satisfied; instead, the court looks to whether plaintiffs have reason tobelieve that they have been injured by wrongdoing. Fox, 110 P.3d at 920. Under this rule,the Fox court held that the plaintiff’s claim would not be time-barred as long as she couldplead and prove facts supporting her allegation that she did not have reason to discover factssupporting her products liability action until after her doctor’s deposition. Fox, 110 P.3d at922-23. More broadly, the court found that “if a plaintiff’s reasonable and diligentinvestigation discloses only one kind of wrongdoing when the injury was actually caused bytortious conduct of a wholly different sort, the discovery rule postpones accrual of the statuteof limitations on the newly discovered claim.” Fox, 110 P.3d at 924.¶ 42 In rendering this holding, the Fox court explicitly rejected the proposition that “ ‘[w]hena plaintiff has cause to sue based on knowledge or suspicion of negligence the statute startsto run as to all potential defendants.’ ” (Emphasis in original.) Fox, 110 P.3d at 917 (quotingBristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court, 38 Cal. Rptr. 298, 304 (Cal. Ct. App. 1995)).The court explained:“Were plaintiffs required to file all causes of action when one cause of actionaccrued, *** they would run the risk of sanctions for filing a cause of action withoutany factual support. [Citations.] Indeed, it would be difficult to describe a cause ofaction filed by a plaintiff, before that plaintiff reasonably suspects that the cause ofaction is a meritorious one, as anything but frivolous.” Fox, 110 P.3d at 925.The Fox court further emphasized that such a rule would not encourage plaintiffs to employdilatory tactics or “wait for the facts.” Fox, 110 P.3d at 925. It explained that, in order toutilize the discovery rule to delay accrual of a cause of action, a plaintiff must show that shewas unable to have discovered the necessary information earlier despite reasonable diligence.Fox, 110 P.3d at 925. Thus, plaintiffs who chose to wait instead of diligently investigatingwould not be able to avoid summary judgment on statute of limitations grounds. Fox, 110P.3d at 925.¶ 43 We find the rule and the reasoning of Fox to be in line with the discovery rule as it hasdeveloped in Illinois, for the reasons stated above. In particular, as noted, Illinois has aninterest in encouraging reasonable diligence by plaintiffs in investigating potential tort claims(Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 416, 430 N.E.2d at 980; Nolan, 85 Ill. 2d at 171, 421 N.E.2d at 868;Witherell, 85 Ill. 2d at 156, 421 N.E.2d at 874); this rule will ensure that claims do not accruebefore they could have been discovered through reasonable diligence and, at the same time,will not permit plaintiffs to slumber on their rights.¶ 44 Due to our resolution of this issue, we need not reach plaintiff’s contention thatinterpretation of the discovery rule to bar her product liability claims would be a violationof her procedural due process rights and her right to equal protection of the laws.
¶ 45 B¶ 46 Defendants finally contend that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the trial court was correctin dismissing plaintiff’s product liability claims as time-barred because plaintiff should have
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known that her injury might have been caused by defendants’ product no later than August9, 2006, the date of Dr. Romeo’s first deposition, when he mentioned that postoperativedelivery of the anesthetic Marcaine via a pain pump might have been a contributing causeto plaintiff’s injury.¶ 47 At the outset, plaintiff argues that we do not have jurisdiction to consider this question,since, in granting defendants’ motion to dismiss, the trial court accepted defendants’construction of the discovery rule and explicitly rejected the need to reach this issue.However, we disagree with plaintiff’s contention, as we may affirm on any basis appearingin the record, whether or not the trial court relied on that basis. See, e.g., Busch v. GraphicColor Corp., 169 Ill. 2d 325, 347-48, 662 N.E.2d 397, 409 (1996) (affirming portion ofdecision for reasons different from those relied upon by the courts below); King v. Paul J.Krez Co., 323 Ill. App. 3d 532, 536, 752 N.E.2d 605, 608 (2001).¶ 48 Plaintiff nevertheless cites Goodrich v. Sprague, 376 Ill. 80, 86, 32 N.E.2d 897, 900(1941), for the proposition that an appellate court may not rule upon matters that were notruled upon by the trial court. In Goodrich, after a trial, the jury found in favor of the plaintiff.Goodrich, 376 Ill. at 82, 32 N.E.2d at 898. The defendant filed a motion for judgmentnotwithstanding the verdict and, in the alternative, a motion for a new trial. Goodrich, 376Ill. at 82, 32 N.E.2d at 898. The trial court granted the defendant’s motion for judgmentnotwithstanding the verdict and therefore did not rule upon its motion for a new trial.Goodrich, 376 Ill. at 82, 32 N.E.2d at 898. On appeal, the appellate court reversed the trialcourt with regard to the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. Goodrich, 376 Ill.at 82, 32 N.E.2d at 898. It then denied the defendant’s motion for a new trial and enteredjudgment for the estate. Goodrich, 376 Ill. at 82, 32 N.E.2d at 898. Our supreme court heldthat the appellate court lacked jurisdiction to rule upon the defendant’s motion for a newtrial, insofar as that motion had not been ruled upon by the trial court. Goodrich, 376 Ill. at86, 32 N.E.2d at 900. It was in this context that the Goodrich court explained that “theAppellate Court’s jurisdiction is appellate, and extends only to those matters in controversywhich have been ruled upon by the trial court.” Goodrich, 376 Ill. at 86, 32 N.E.2d at 900.¶ 49 Goodrich is inapplicable to the instant case because, unlike in Goodrich, we are notruling upon a motion which the trial court declined to consider. Rather, we are consideringthe merits of defendants’ motion to dismiss, a motion which the trial court granted.Defendants are merely attempting to proffer alternative grounds for granting a motion uponwhich the trial court has already ruled and from which the instant appeal was taken. Thismotion would therefore be a “matter[ ] in controversy which [has] been ruled upon by thetrial court” within the meaning of Goodrich. The case of Canel & Hale, Ltd. v. Tobin, 304Ill. App. 3d 906, 921-22, 710 N.E.2d 861, 874 (1999) (where trial court failed to rule ondefendants’ section 2-619 motion, appellate court lacked jurisdiction over the merits of thatmotion), also cited by plaintiff on this point, is likewise inapplicable to the situation at hand.¶ 50 Plaintiff’s attempted reliance on Marshall v. Burger King Corp., 222 Ill. 2d 422, 856N.E.2d 1048 (2006), and on Williams v. Board of Education of the City of Chicago, 222 Ill.App. 3d 559, 584 N.E.2d 257 (1991), is similarly misplaced. Both of these cases deal withwaiver and forfeiture. Thus, in Marshall, 222 Ill. 2d at 430-31, 856 N.E.2d at 1054, the courtfound that defendants forfeited their argument that their conduct did not proximately cause--1166--



the decedent’s injuries because they did not raise such argument before the trial court.Similarly, in Williams, 222 Ill. App. 3d at 565-66, 584 N.E.2d at 266, where defendantsought a dismissal order from the trial court based solely on the statute of limitations,defendant was held to have waived any tort immunity argument on appeal. However, in theinstant case, defendants properly raised the argument before the trial court, urging that, evenif plaintiff’s interpretation of the discovery rule were correct, the statute of limitations wouldhave begun to run on her claim no later than August 9, 2006, when Dr. Romeo gave his firstdeposition. Notwithstanding that the argument was properly raised, the court found no needto address it. Thus, unlike in Marshall and Williams, the argument here was not waived orforfeited.¶ 51 Nor can support for plaintiff’s jurisdictional argument be found in the final case cited byplaintiff on this matter, Graves v. Illinois Liquor Control Comm’n, 55 Ill. App. 3d 888, 892,371 N.E.2d 368, 371 (1977), since Graves does not deal with any jurisdictional limitationbut, rather, the inability of a court of appeal to decide an issue where the record is inadequatefor decision. The Graves court reversed the revocation of plaintiff’s liquor license by theState of Illinois Liquor Control Commission, holding that the charges against plaintiff wereinsufficiently clear and specific to allow the preparation of a defense. Graves, 55 Ill. App.3d at 891-92, 371 N.E.2d at 370. The Commission nevertheless argued that, even if thecharges against the plaintiff were not proper, a revocation was supported by evidenceadduced at the hearing before the Commission. Graves, 55 Ill. App. 3d at 892, 371 N.E.2dat 371. The Graves court declined to consider this contention, explaining, “To attempt toconsider and review the evidence adduced at a hearing which was commenced by chargesso inadequate as to hamper the preparation of a defense would be an exercise in reductio adabsurdum.” Graves, 55 Ill. App. 3d at 892, 371 N.E.2d at 370. Thus, the court is not statinga jurisdictional limitation but finding that, under the circumstances, the court did not havesufficient facts to render a ruling on the merits. Graves, 55 Ill. App. 3d at 892, 371 N.E.2dat 370.¶ 52 Plaintiff next contends substantively that the question of when she knew or should haveknown that her injury might have been wrongfully caused by a pain pump is a disputedquestion of fact and therefore cannot be resolved upon a motion to dismiss. We agree. Thequestion of when a party knew or reasonably should have known that she was injured andthat her injury was wrongfully caused is a question of fact unless the facts are undisputed andonly a single conclusion may be drawn from them. Nolan, 85 Ill. 2d at 171, 421 N.E.2d at868-69 (remanding for determination of this factual issue); Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 416, 430N.E.2d at 981 (also remanding).¶ 53 With regard to Dr. Romeo’s 2006 deposition testimony, upon which defendants attemptto rely, plaintiff argues that such testimony does not unambiguously point to a causal linkbetween plaintiff’s injury and the use of a pain pump. Rather, she argues, it points to a causallink between plaintiff’s injury and the use of the anesthetic Marcaine, which incidentallywould have been administered via a pain pump:“A third possibility which has become more apparent recently is the use of aninterarticular anesthetic agent, particularly a medicine called Marcaine, and so the useof a postoperative interarticular pain pump, which I’m not aware of whether that was--1177--



done or not, has been shown over the last year-and-a-half to two years to be highlyassociated with a condition where articular cartilage is aggressively lost in theshoulder after arthroscopic stabilization.”Plaintiff further argues that this interpretation is supported by Dr. Romeo’s November 23,2009, affidavit, submitted by plaintiff to the court in opposition to defendants’ motion todismiss, in which Dr. Romeo specifically disclaims having had any knowledge in 2006 thatpain pumps themselves were potentially unsafe: “[M]y [2006] testimony only reflected the length of time and the amount ofmedication that was delivered by the pain pump, and was not intended nor did itreflect any information that any pain pump may be potentially unsafe or had lack ofwarnings. *** At my deposition on August 9, 2006, I had no information, and whenasked, imparted no information to Mr. Goodman [plaintiff’s attorney], that the painpumps were unsafe or unreasonably dangerous, or negligently designed ormanufactured.”In that affidavit, Dr. Romeo additionally denies any possibility that plaintiff could havediscovered the connection between her injury and the pain pump prior to the summer of2007: “It is my understanding, and opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, thatany information concerning potential chondrolysis caused by the wrongful use ofpain pumps did not occur by publication for which a patient or other lay person mightrealize that chondrolysis might be wrongfully caused by pain pumps or their designor lack of warnings or instructions until the summer of 2007.”This is consistent with plaintiff’s allegation in her amended complaint that she could nothave discovered her potential products liability claim before the summer of 2007 because“[p]rior to the summer of 2007, information concerning potential chondrolysis caused bypain pumps did not exist.”¶ 54 Based upon the averments of Dr. Romeo in his affidavit, as well as the facial ambiguityof Dr. Romeo’s 2006 testimony as to the nature of the link between Marcaine, pain pumps,and chondrolysis, we find that it would not be unreasonable for a finder of fact to concludethat a reasonable person in plaintiff’s position could not have been aware that her injurymight have been wrongfully caused by a pain pump until the summer of 2007, due to thealleged lack of published information on the causal link between pain pumps andchondrolysis prior to that time. Accordingly, in ruling upon defendants’ motion to dismiss,it would be inappropriate for us to resolve the disputed issue of fact as to whether plaintiffcould have discovered her claim through reasonable diligence prior to the summer of 2007.See Nolan, 85 Ill. 2d at 171, 421 N.E.2d at 868-69; Knox, 88 Ill. 2d at 416, 430 N.E.2d at981.¶ 55 We note parenthetically that defendants have not attempted to preclude the use of Dr.Romeo’s subsequent affidavit to explain or modify his testimony in his 2006 deposition. Noris it conclusive that any such argument would be likely to succeed in any event, althoughthere is authority to indicate that, where an expert witness of a party makes a clear,deliberate, and unequivocal statement of fact, such statement may be treated as the equivalent
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of a judicial admission so as to preclude subsequent contradiction by the deponent. SeeSchmall v. Village of Addison, 171 Ill. App. 3d 344, 348, 525 N.E.2d 258, 262 (1988);Tongate v. Wyeth Laboratories, 220 Ill. App. 3d 952, 962, 580 N.E.2d 1220, 1227 (1991).However, such rule would only apply to testimony that is clear, deliberate, and unequivocal;by contrast, where the testimony at issue is ambiguous in context, subsequent clarificationis permitted. Schmall, 171 Ill. App. 3d at 349, 525 N.E.2d at 262-63 (expert’s depositiontestimony did not so unequivocally establish defendant’s freedom from negligence as topreclude explanation by affidavit); Tongate, 220 Ill. App. 3d at 962, 580 N.E.2d at 1227-28(even if witness’s deposition testimony were “subject to the judicial admission rule,” it wasinsufficiently clear and unequivocal as to bar explanatory clarification in later deposition);cf. Young v. Pease, 114 Ill. App. 3d 120, 124, 448 N.E.2d 586, 589 (1983) (where deponent“has not made deliberate, repeated and unequivocal statements, it is possible, for purposesof a motion for summary judgment, to controvert the claimed admissions made in thosestatements”).¶ 56 As urged by the plaintiff, it is at best unclear whether Dr. Romeo’s 2006 testimony isreferring to knowledge that would find fault with the use of the drug Marcaine or whetherhe is indicating a deficiency in the pain pump resulting from any inadequacy or defect. Thus,subsequent clarification would be permitted. However, in any event, even if the expert’stestimony were sufficiently clear and deliberate, any potential argument as to whether hissubsequent affidavit could contradict his earlier deposition testimony would be subject toforfeiture since defendants failed to raise this issue at any time. See Ill. S. Ct. Rs. 341(h)(7),(i) (eff. July 1, 2008); Elementary School District 159 v. Schiller, 221 Ill. 2d 130, 143 n.2,849 N.E.2d 349, 358 n.2 (2006) (plaintiffs forfeited issue where they failed to raise it in theirbrief before the court); Berggren v. Hill, 401 Ill. App. 3d 475, 479, 928 N.E.2d 1225, 1229(2010) (plaintiff forfeited argument on appeal by failing to raise that argument in herappellate brief); In re Mark W., 383 Ill. App. 3d 572, 587, 895 N.E.2d 925, 938 (2008)(failure to raise issue on appeal may be deemed forfeiture of that issue); Maun v. Departmentof Professional Regulation, 299 Ill. App. 3d 388, 399, 701 N.E.2d 791, 799-800 (1998)(plaintiff forfeited argument that he failed to raise in his appellate brief).¶ 57 Therefore, for the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the trial court is reversed andremanded for proceedings not inconsistent with this opinion.
¶ 58 Reversed and remanded.
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